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1. Name

historic Tn and Out Social Club

andorcommon Huse Building

2. Location

street & number 714-716 South Clinton Avenue N/A not for publication
city, town Trenton . vicinity of
state New Jersey code 034 county Mercer code 021
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
— district —_ public _X_ occupied — . agriculture —___ museum
_X building(s) _X private ____ unoccupied X__ commercial __ park
— structure ___both ___work in progress — educational —_ private residence
____site Public Acquisition Accessible —_ entertainment — religious
___ object ____in process X vyes: restricted ____government ___ scientific
___ being considered .. yes: unrestricted ___ industrial — transportation
no military ____other:

4. Owner of Property

name Mrs. Edna MacQueen Hughes

street & number 1004 Division Street

city, town Trenton ___ vicinity of state New Jersey 08611

5. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. Mercer County Court House

street & number South Broad Street

city, town Trenton state New Jersey

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

NJ Historic Sites Inventory: Trenton City,
titte East Ward Survey has this property been determined eligible? ___yes _X no

date February 4, 1982 ___federal ____ state ___ county X local

depository for survey records Office of New Jersey Heritage, CN 404,

city,town Trenton, state New Jersey 086%_5




7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

____ excellent ____deteriorated ____ unaltered _X original site
_=rgood s " " ___ruins _X altered ___moved date
_X_fair . ____unexposed

Desctibe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

EXTERIOR

The In and Out Social Club is a three-story brick structure with a flat
roof built right to the sidewalk line on South Clinton Avenue. The building is
rectangular in shape, covering two thirds of the original 25' by 100' lot, with
a small yard in the rear extending to Midwood Alley. The second lot comprising
the property is a full driveway, 25' by 100', extending from South Clinton
Avenue to Midwood Alley.

West Facade (Front)

The west facade has an asymmetrical first story with two entrances capped
by a full-width cornice, while the upper two stories and the roof cornice are
symmetrical (Figure 1). The main entrance comprises the northern one-third
portion of the first story, and a glass front entrance comprises the remaining
two-thirds southern portion (Figure 2). These two portions are defined by brick
pilasters, two bricks wide, on top of rough-faced brownstone foundation piers
roughly two feet in height. At the top of each pilaster, the pressed metal
cornice has double corbels which begin on the brickwork and extend to the crown
molding level with rosettes on the top edge. The cornice has modillion blocks
between the corbels and a segmented arch with fan detailing over the main
entrance.

The main entrance is recessed back from the masonry surface, with a single
brownstone step extending the full width between the pilasters (Figure 3). The
entrance has double doors with single glass panels above two raised wooden
panels defined by projecting applied moldings. The side and top jambs have
similar raised panels with four large and small sections by the doors and four
large sections around the transom. The transom consists of a stained glass
fanlight, with a floral motif repeated in each of its four sections, and raised
panels in the upper corners (Figure 4).

The glassfront entrance is divided into three sections, with a 12-light
glass door (not original), a single glass panel transom, and a brownstone step
in the center. The southern section, which appears to be original, has three
glass panels over a rough-faced brownstone sill at the doorsill level, with a
wooden sill molding separating the bottom and middle panels. The bottom third
of the northern section has been infilled with bricks.

The second and third stories, which are similar except for window heights,
are divided into three window openings (Figure 6). The central windows consist
of three one-over-one double hung windows topped by a four-part fanlight with
colored opaque glass. Above the full brick arch there is a projecting crown
molding made of brownstone with carved blocks at the impost level (Figure 7).
The window sill is a single piece of dressed brownstone. The side windows have
one-over-one double hung sash with eight-light transoms and rough-faced brown-
stone lintles and sills.
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The masonry on the upper stories consists of gauged brown-colored bricks
laid in butter joints. Brick pilasters resting on corbelled bricks at the
lintle level begin on the outer edges of the facade on the second story, and
between the windows on the third story. Closely-spaced brick corbels between
the pilasters at the top of the third story support a frieze projecting brick
courses. The pressed metal cornice has a facia section with garland swags above
the three window sections, and double modillion blocks above the four pilasters
which support a projecting crown. Above the crown, the cornice forms a parapet
divided into three sections, with rectangular base sections over the pilasters
capped by pyramidal finials. The central section has a projecting panel with a
raised inscription, "A - 1892 - D", capped by an arch with a sunburst motif
(Figure 6).

South Side - The south wall, like the north and rear walls, is built of
standard brick laid in an American bond consisting of five stretcher courses and
a single header course. The first story has been covered with stucco and has no
windows. The second story has two one-~over-ome double hung windows in the
middle. The third story has two similar windows above these, and two additional
windows towards the front and rear which have two-over-two sash, eight-light
transoms, and brick-arch lintles. The top of the wall line slopes from the
front to the rear, and there is a chimney towards the rear with corbeled brick
courses that flare out at the top. An o0ld painted sign for Quaker Oats remains
partially visible across the upper 2 stories (Figures 10 and 11).

East Side - The first story is stuccoed and has a single two-over-two
double hung window on the southern portion and a pair of large warehouse doors
(not original) on the northern section (Figure 12). The two upper stories have
similar fenestration: three equally spaced two-over-two double hung windows
with eight-light transoms and brick-arch lintles. The second story windows are
taller, however, then those of the third story. The rear facade is capped by a
wooden projecting cornice.

North Side - The west portion of the east facade forms a party wall with
the adjacent two story semi-detached row house (Figure 13). The remaining brick
masonry matches that of the south wall, but there are no windows.

The Site - The sidewalk in front of the building is made of large bluestone
pavers. There is a steel sidewalk door to the basement by the south portion of
the facade. The bulkhead is outlined by bluestone curbing. The adjacent lot is
entirely covered by Belgian block, including the sidewalk apron (Figure 8).
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INTERIOR

Much of the original detailing remains on the iunterior, though some has
been obscured by drop ceilings, or new partitions. Certain details have been
affected by the building's conversion to warehouse use, such as alterations on
the first and second floors to install a small elevator, changes to the store-
front on the south side, and large rear doors on the north side.

First Floor - The first floor plan consists of an entrance vestibule and a
stair hall on the north side, a large front room on the south side, and a second
large room with an L-shape that spans the full width of the building at the
rear. The woodwork is chestnut and both rooms have tin ceilings.

The entrance vestibule has 3" x 6" dark brown wall tile capped by a chest-
nut molding at the height of 4 feet. Wallpaper, which may be original, survives
above the tile, over the doors, and on the ceiling (Figure 16). On each of the
side walls there is a large 30" x 40" paper panel depicting Italian palazzo
scenes., The floor has remmants of the original polychrome tile, which was laid
in a geometric pattern of 2" octagons and rectangles. The inner vestibule
double doors are chestnut with beveled glass panes on the upper half and raised
wooden panels on the lower half. The glass panes are arrayed in a geometric
pattern with large rectangles in the center which have the letters "I & O S C"
etched into the glass (Figure 15). Above the doors there is a fanlight transom
with four stained glass panels in a floral motif. The door casings are 5 inches
wide with turned corner blocks.

The stair hall has a door leading to the south front room, and a narrow
hall leading to the rear room. The staircase against the north wall is 42" wide
with a 6" square starting newel, turned balusters, and a large handrail, all in
chestnut (Figure 18). The hall has matched board wainscotting which continues
up the stairs to the third floor level. On the first rise to the second floor
the wainscotting is grain painted to match the chestunut, while on the second
rise to the third floor it has a natural finish.

Both first floor rooms have pressed tin ceilings and pine strip flooring.
The opening in the partition between the two rooms has been enlarged, and the
rear room has large double doors on the northern side of the rear wall which
were installed for the warehouse use. Below the stairway in the rear is a small
hall with wainscotting that leads to the basement stair.
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Second Floor - The stairhall has a landing on the second floor with a
narrow hall east of the stairs leading to a bathroom under the rear of the
stairs. A door on the south side of the landing leads to an east-west hall
which provides access to the four second floor rooms. The landing and hall have
grain-painted wainscotting. The doors on this floor have five horizontal panels
and are also grain-painted. The front and rear rooms have pressed tin ceilings
and wainscotting. The front room extends the full width of the building and has
three windows facing west. There are interior shutters built into the jambs of
all the windows, and the central window has a fanlight with colored opaque glass
(Figure 33). There is also an early light fixture on the ceiling. The rear
room has three windows with transoms overhead, and doors leading to the bathroom
in the mnortheast corner and to one of the middle rooms. The bathroom has
wainscotting, a single window facing east, and a closet under the stairs. The
two middle rooms have single windows and closets along the south wall.

Third Floor - A landing at the top of the stairs has a single window
providing light for the stairhall and a door leading to a small room with a
single window at the rear of the building. This room provides access to a
bathroom in the southeast corner, to another small room along the south wall,
and to a large 23' x 40' room towards the front (Figure 32). All the rooms on
this floor have wainscotting and grain painted five panel doors. The large
front room has three single windows along the south wall, and three along the
west wall which match those in the room below. There is a skylight in the
center of the ceiling with a large light shaft covered in matched boards similar
to the wainscotting.

Basement - The basement has one large room along the south wall which is
spanned by 3" x 12" hemlock joists that make up the first floor. The walls are
18" thick stone masonry and a partition runs the full length of the building on
the wnorth side, supporting the hall partitions on the floors above. This
partition has three 5' wide openings with brick arches. The westernmost opening
leads to a small room which appears to have been a wine cellar. The other two
openings lead to a hall with an interior stair to the first floor. There is
also an exterior bulkhead stair in the southwest corner.




8. Significance

Period Areas of Significance—Check and justify below

___ prehistoric ____ archeology-prehistoric .___ community planning ____ landscape architecture..___ religion

—1400-1499 ___ archeology-historic —__. conservation ___law —___science

- 1500-1599 ____ agriculture —___economics ____ literature __ sculpture

____1600-1699 _X architecture ____education ___ military _X_ social/

. 1700-1799 ___ art ... engineering —__ music humanitarian

X 1800-1899 ____ commerce - exploration/settlement __ philosophy — theater

—1900- _____communications —___industry ____politics/government ___ transportation
___ invention —_ other (specify)

Specific dates 13893 Builder/Architect

Steve Clayton/Unknown

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

The significance of the In and Out Social Club lies primarily in the fact
that the building was designed and built specifically for a community-based

social club, with notable architectural features.
survives remarkably close to its original appearance,

turally prominant in its immediate vicinity.

Despite subsequent uses, it
and remains architec-
The significance of the accom-

panying lot is its former ownership by the Roebling Company and the survival of
the original Belgian block paving which dates back to circa 1903.

History

The In and Out Social Club was incorporated on September 2,
"social, intellectual, and recreative purposes"
C of Corporatioms).
City directories list the officers of the

Mercer County Clerk's Office, Vol.
place was at 728 S. Broad Street.

1889, for
(Certificate of Incorporation,
The original meeting

club during the first decade, and these men were mostly small businessmen, like

grocers and tavern owners,

or white collar workers,

like clerks, foremen,

paymasters, and in one case, a fire commissioner.

Social and fraternal organizations have been important in Trenton since

before the Revolution, when a Masonic Lodge was established in 1730.

In the

earlier periods informal groups gathered in the public rooms of local taverns to

discuss political, financial,

and social news.

As Treunton grew during the

industrial era, both the population and their activities became more varied and

extensive. Those sharing similar backgrounds

together and formed regular organizatioms.

been singing societies organized by music-loving Germans.

» interests and tastes banded

The earliest of these appear to have

Later clubs, like the

Lotus and Lochiel Clubs organized in the 1870's, were founded by business and

professional leaders to promote literature,
although these often focused
camaraderie,

science,
on fine dining,

and social intercourse,

choice 1liquors, and male

As the Chambersburg area of Trenton grew along with the development of the

steel and wire rope industries,
community, a tradition which continues to this

clubs began to play a prominant role in the

day. In 1929, the In and Out

Social Club was described as "a club that has long been exceptionally popular in

the Chambersburg sectiomn.
most of the political leaders of both parties
lawyers, doctors and businessmen."

This was never actually a political organization, but

have been members, as well as

(History of Trenton, Princeton University

Press, 1929, pg. 891).




9. Major Bibliographical References

History of Trenton Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1929, pp 891-92.

"Trenton In Bygone Days" Trenton Sunday Times Advertiser January 15, 1961.

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property 50' x 100’
Quadrangle name __Trenton West Quadrangle scale __1:24000
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Verbal boundary description and justification Beginning at a point on the north side of South
Clinton Ave. 75' west from Hudson St. corner, Running 50' feet along South
Clinton, then 90° for 100' to Midwood Alley, then 90° running parallel to Midwood
for 50' then 90° for 100' back to starting point on S. Clinton.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries NA

state code county code

state code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/titte Clifford W. Zink

organizatior‘\ C.W. Zink & Company date October 15, 1986
street & number 223 East Hanover Street telephone 609-396-1818
cityortown Trenton state New Jersey 08608

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

____national ____state X local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89—
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certify that it has been evaluated

according to the criteria and procedures set forth by ational Park Service.
Deputy
State Historic Preservation Officer signatur ) c ,«é
&~ — e ——
title Assistant Commissioner for Natural Resources date 02/18/87

For NPS use only
| hereby certity that this property is included in the National Register

Batered i
7 / ec. in the date S3-2€-§7

Xational Register

Xy\&a&%f the National Regféter '
Attest: date

Chief of Registration

GPO 894-788
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Within three years of its founding, the club had 125 members and had
outgrown the meeting space it borrowed from one of its members. In February
1892 it purchased the 25' by 100' lot at 714-716 South Clinton Avenue for $950
from Melinda Goulding. She had purchased it in 1886 as a subdivision of the
George Blackford estate. The club apparently began construction of the building
almost immediately, as its opening was announced in less than one year. The
Sunday paper on January 7, 1893 carried the announcement that "The In and Out
Social Club took possession on Sunday of its new home on South Clinton Avenue.
The building cost about $12,000. It is three stories in height and has all the
modern improvements needed in a club room building. The first floor is partly
occupied by a gymnasium. On the third floor is the parlor, meeting room, etc."
(Trenton Sunday Times-Advertiser, January 15, 1961).

The building was obviously designed to express the club's prosperity and
importance within the community, rising above the two story houses along the
rest of the block with a prominant cornice proudly announcing the date of
erection. Other details, including the main entrance with the club's initials
etched into the glass doors, the long stairhall, and the high ceilings, all
reinforced this display. Unfortunately, the members may have bitten off more
than they could chew. The construction appears to have been financed in part by
a mortgage, dated August 12, 1892, held by a woman named Hannah Brian. In
December 1896, Mrs. Brian foreclosed on the mortgage, with an outstanding
balance at the time of $5683, and the property came into her possession.
Whether the club vacated the building at this time or leased it back for a
period remains unknown. Mrs. Brian sold the property in 1902 to Rudolph Kuser,
who worked for Peoples Brewing Company.

The club apparently purchased another property at 137 Genessee Street, from
a woman named Julia Toth, who held a mortgage for $300 in 1912, It thrived
during the next two decades and had grown to 270 members by 1929, with a meeting
place on Hudson Street. Both of these subsequent locations are within one block
of 714 So, Clinton Avenue, indicating the importance of remaining within that
community. The club survived into the 1950's, with the latest reference appear-
ing in the 1955 Chamber of Commerce Directory.

The use of the property within the first decades after the club's relo-
cation remains uncertain, although long-term residents in this neighborhood
recall its use as a tavern when they were young. Because of his connection with
the brewery, Kuser's possible use as a tavern seems appropriate. He and his
wife held it until 1921, when they sold it to John Zsizeri, whose use is undoc-
umented. Joseph Zielinkski who was in the real estate and insurance business,
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purchased it in 1928, subject to existing leases. He sold it to Helen Winowicz
in 1938 with two mortgages, for $6,000 and $8,000. Jennie Seitz purchased it in
1941, assuming a $6,000 mortgage. City directories at this time did not list
women, and there are no references for either of these.

Joseph Pierce purchased the property in 1946 for $4,000, and used it as a
storage facility for his moving business. The lower sale price and the ware-
house use indicates that its original condition and suitability as a public
building had declined. Pierce's son, Robert, sold it in 1968 to Edna McQueen
Huse, whose husband maintained an electric motor repair shop in the building
until 1986. According to Robert Pierce, the building was erected by a Trenton
builder named Steve Clayton. Clayton built many housing and commercial struc-
tures in Trenton and Bordentown, with a reputation for quality construction,

The second lot on this parcel, which had also been purchased from the
Blackford estate in 1886, was resold in February 1892 for $950, to Joseph
Pattison. John A. Roebling's Sons Company (JARSCO) purchased the lot from
Pattison in 1901 for $1350, and paved it with Belgian blocks as a side entrance
to one of its Chambersburg parcels. JARSCO sold it in 1947 to Joseph Pierce,
who used it for parking and exterior storage associated with his warehouse
business in the club building. Since that time, the two parcels have been
linked as one.

Architecture

The architectural style of the building's facade shows a mix of both
Romanesque and Neo-Classical influences. The Romanesque aspect is evident in
the triple grouping of windows on the second and third floors, with overriding
crown arches made of brownstone. The Neo-Classical aspects are evident in the
use of modillian blocks in both cornices, on the segmented fan arch over the
main entrance, and on the parapet with its projecting base and infill sectioms.
Other details are typical of Trenton building during that period, including the
corbelled brickwork pilaster and cornice, and the brownstone sills and lintles.
The Trenton East Ward Survey states that the building is '"notable for its facade
detailing". (See accompanying survey form #1111-516.) The scale and detail of
the facade make the building stand out as a visible landmark along several block
long stretches of 2-story row houses on South Clinton Avenue. The Trenton East
Ward Survey states that the building is eligible for the National Register.

The design reflects the building's original purpose, with "all the modermn
improvements needed in a club room building" (see above). Of the two large
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rooms on the first floor, the rear one originally served as a gymnasium, with
entrances from hall and the rear of the property. The front room probably
served as the club's dining or tap room, with entrances to both the street and
the more private portioms of the club. The second floor has four small rooms in
three different sizes, the larger ones with the pressed-metal ceilings providing
space for private parties and meetings, with the smaller ones in-between pos-
sibly serving as club offices. The door and separate hall to these rooms on the
second floor landing allowed them to be closed off from the more public access
to the third floor. The third floor has a large hall, 23' by 40', which pro-
vided space for large club functions. Several older neighborhood residents
recall dances in this hall in their youth, which would be after the I&0SC's
occupation but no doubt reflecting its use as well. The layout of the rest of
this floor, with a reception area, powder room, and a small room, provided
ancillary space to the large hall.

Alterations from the original are fairly minimal: on the exterior there is
a replacement door and brick in-fill panel on the glass-front entrance, stucco
on the ground story of the south and rear sides, and replacement double doors on
the rear; on the interior, there are recent partitions and a drop ceiling within
the front room on the first floor, a recent partition and a replacement door
between this room and the hall, and an opening and partition on the second floor
to accommodate a small elevator. Beyond these changes, the building is
remarkably intact from its original construction 97 years ago. Some original
wallpaper and the grain-painted finishes survive in the vestibule and stairhall.

Several other important buildings survive in Trenton from historic social
or fraternal organizations. These range from the Masonic Lodge built in 1793 on
Front Street, to the Elk Hall built on Warren Street in 1912. Both of these are
architecturally and socially more significant than the I&0SC, and both are on
the National Register. On the other end of the scale, there are several cur-
rently active clubs in the Chambersburg section, including the Neopolitan Club
on Butler Street and Roman Hall on Whittaker Street. Neither of these buildings
are architecturally significant. While there may be other buildings in Trenton
which were built for clubs around the time of the I&0SC, they are not readily
apparent as such today. The I&0SC, therefore, appears to be a somewhat unique
survivor as an architecturally distinctive building erected for a social club at
the end of the nineteenth century.
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